

American Journal of International Relations (AJIR)



Role of Cultural Diplomacy in Strengthening Soft Power among Emerging Economies

Charles Mbira



Role of Cultural Diplomacy in Strengthening Soft Power among Emerging Economies

 Charles Mbira
 Crossref
Article history

Submitted 19.07.2024 Revised Version Received 22.08.2024 Accepted 26.09.2024

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of the study was to assess the role of cultural diplomacy in strengthening soft power among emerging economies.

Methodology: This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

Findings: The study found that cultural diplomacy plays a crucial role in enhancing a nation's soft power by fostering mutual understanding, trust, and respect among countries. It involves the use of cultural exchange, arts, education, and shared values to promote a positive national image and influence foreign public opinion. Through initiatives such as cultural festivals, educational programs, and artistic collaborations, countries can effectively communicate their cultural heritage and values, which can lead to improved bilateral

relations. Research indicates that nations that actively engage in cultural diplomacy tend to experience increased cultural ties and greater political influence abroad. Furthermore, cultural diplomacy not only strengthens soft power but also contributes to conflict resolution and peacebuilding efforts by creating platforms for dialogue and collaboration among diverse communities.

Implications to Theory, Practice and Policy: Soft power theory, cultural studies theory and constructivist theory may be used to anchor future studies on assessing the role of cultural diplomacy in strengthening soft power among emerging economies. In practice, emerging economies should prioritize the diversification of cultural diplomacy initiatives, encompassing a wide range of cultural expressions, such as arts, music, cuisine, and digital content. Policymakers in emerging economies should prioritize cultural diplomacy within national strategies and allocate sufficient funding to support cultural initiatives.

Keywords: *Cultural Diplomacy, Soft Power, Emerging Economies*

INTRODUCTION

Soft power, a concept coined by Joseph Nye, refers to the ability of a country to shape the preferences of others through attraction and persuasion rather than coercion. The United States exemplifies this through its cultural exports, notably in entertainment and technology. As of 2022, U.S. film and television exports generated approximately \$36.3 billion, significantly influencing global pop culture and values (U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2023). Furthermore, the U.S. higher education system attracts over a million international students annually, contributing approximately \$38 billion to the economy, thereby fostering global goodwill and cultural exchange (Institute of International Education, 2021). This educational soft power strengthens diplomatic ties and positions the U.S. as a leader in global knowledge dissemination.

Japan also exemplifies effective use of soft power through its cultural diplomacy, particularly in anime and cuisine. According to a report by the Japan External Trade Organization, Japanese cultural exports, including anime and food, were valued at over \$1.4 billion in 2021, highlighting a growing global interest in Japanese culture (JETRO, 2022). Additionally, Japan's strategic use of international cultural festivals and exchanges has fostered enhanced relations with countries across Asia and beyond, contributing to a more favorable image globally. This engagement is evident in the increasing number of international visitors to Japan, which reached approximately 31.9 million in 2019, a clear indicator of the soft power's impact on tourism and cultural diplomacy (Japan National Tourism Organization, 2020). Collectively, these efforts illustrate how soft power can enhance international standing and foster positive relationships.

In developing economies, soft power plays a crucial role in enhancing global influence and promoting cultural identity. For example, India has increasingly used its rich cultural heritage and diaspora to bolster its soft power. The Global Soft Power Index 2023 ranked India as the 15th most powerful country in terms of soft power, driven largely by its Bollywood film industry, which reaches audiences in over 100 countries and contributes approximately \$2.5 billion annually to the economy (Brand Finance, 2023). Moreover, India's efforts in promoting yoga and traditional medicine have positioned it as a leader in wellness and cultural diplomacy, enhancing its global reputation and soft power.

Another example is Brazil, which leverages its cultural diversity to enhance its soft power on the global stage. The country's annual Carnival celebrations attract millions of international tourists, generating an estimated \$800 million in revenue, and showcase Brazilian culture (World Tourism Organization, 2022). Additionally, Brazil's initiatives in promoting samba and bossa nova music globally have established cultural connections and fostered goodwill with other nations. As of 2022, Brazil's cultural diplomacy efforts have been instrumental in strengthening ties with African and Latin American countries, further enhancing its soft power footprint. These examples illustrate how developing economies can effectively utilize soft power to influence international perceptions and foster diplomatic relationships.

Similarly, Mexico utilizes its vibrant culture, culinary arts, and warm hospitality to project its soft power globally. The country's gastronomy has gained international recognition, with UNESCO declaring traditional Mexican cuisine an Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity in 2010. In 2021, Mexico was ranked 22nd in the Global Soft Power Index, highlighting its cultural influence (Brand Finance, 2021). Additionally, Mexico's strategic promotion of its culture through events like the Day of the Dead has captured global attention and fostered goodwill with other nations.

The tourism sector, which contributes around \$24 billion annually, underscores the economic and cultural impact of Mexico's soft power initiatives, facilitating positive international relations.

The Philippines employs soft power primarily through its vibrant cultural heritage and extensive diaspora. The country is known for its unique blend of indigenous and colonial influences, reflected in its music, dance, and festivals such as Sinulog and Ati-Atihan, which attract both local and international visitors. According to the Philippine Statistics Authority, the tourism sector generated approximately \$8.2 billion in revenue in 2019, showcasing the economic impact of cultural engagement (PSA, 2020). Additionally, the Filipino diaspora, which is estimated at around 12 million, plays a crucial role in promoting Philippine culture globally, thereby enhancing the nation's image. The Philippines ranked 20th in the Global Soft Power Index 2023, reflecting its growing influence through cultural diplomacy (Brand Finance, 2023).

Turkey leverages its historical significance and cultural richness as a means of soft power. As a bridge between Europe and Asia, Turkey's unique blend of cultures makes it an attractive destination for tourists and businesses alike. In 2022, approximately 51 million tourists visited Turkey, contributing around \$37 billion to its economy (Turkish Ministry of Culture and Tourism, 2023). Turkish television dramas, which have gained popularity across the Middle East, Africa, and Europe, serve as powerful cultural exports, enhancing Turkey's image abroad. Furthermore, Turkey's active involvement in humanitarian aid and international development projects has reinforced its soft power, establishing it as a key player in fostering regional stability and cooperation.

In Sub-Saharan Africa, soft power is increasingly becoming a tool for nations to enhance their global standing and influence. South Africa, for instance, utilizes its cultural heritage and historical significance to assert its soft power. The country is known for its vibrant arts scene and cultural festivals, which have attracted attention worldwide, with approximately 2.5 million international tourists visiting for cultural experiences in 2019 (South African Tourism, 2020). Moreover, South Africa's diplomatic efforts through organizations like the African Union have positioned it as a leader in promoting peace and stability across the continent, enhancing its global image.

Nigeria is another Sub-Saharan country effectively harnessing soft power through its entertainment industry, particularly Nollywood, which is one of the largest film industries in the world. With a market size projected to reach \$1 billion by 2025, Nollywood films are gaining popularity across Africa and the diaspora, showcasing Nigerian culture and storytelling (Statista, 2023). Additionally, Nigerian music, especially Afrobeat, has surged in global popularity, with artists like Burna Boy and Wizkid achieving international acclaim and expanding Nigeria's cultural influence. This growing recognition contributes to a positive perception of Nigeria and highlights the significance of cultural diplomacy in enhancing soft power within the region.

Kenya also exemplifies the use of soft power through its wildlife conservation efforts and cultural heritage. The country's unique biodiversity, exemplified by the Maasai Mara and Amboseli National Parks, draws millions of tourists annually, generating over \$1.3 billion in tourism revenue in 2021 (Kenya Tourism Board, 2022). Additionally, Kenya's rich cultural traditions, showcased through festivals and the promotion of crafts, enhance its global image. The government's efforts in promoting conservation and sustainable tourism have not only preserved natural resources but also fostered positive international perceptions of Kenya. Collectively, these initiatives illustrate

how Sub-Saharan nations can effectively leverage soft power to influence global perceptions and enhance diplomatic relationships.

Tanzania utilizes its rich natural resources and cultural diversity to enhance its soft power. The country is renowned for its stunning wildlife and natural landscapes, including Mount Kilimanjaro and the Serengeti National Park, attracting millions of tourists annually. In 2019, tourism contributed approximately \$2.6 billion to Tanzania's economy, showcasing the financial benefits of its soft power initiatives (Tanzania National Bureau of Statistics, 2020). Additionally, Tanzania promotes its unique cultural heritage through music, arts, and the Swahili language, which is increasingly recognized on the international stage. These cultural initiatives not only boost tourism but also foster goodwill and strengthen diplomatic relationships.

In Uganda, soft power is centered on its rich biodiversity and cultural heritage. The country is home to a variety of wildlife and natural wonders, including the famous mountain gorillas, which draw a significant number of eco-tourists. In 2021, tourism accounted for about \$1.6 billion of Uganda's GDP, underscoring the economic impact of its soft power (Uganda Bureau of Statistics, 2022). Moreover, Uganda promotes its diverse cultural heritage through music, dance, and festivals, which serve to foster national pride and international interest. The country's active participation in regional organizations like the East African Community (EAC) further enhances its diplomatic presence, showcasing Uganda's commitment to regional cooperation and stability.

Cultural diplomacy initiatives play a crucial role in enhancing a nation's soft power by fostering mutual understanding and cooperation through cultural exchange. These initiatives often include art exhibitions, cultural festivals, educational exchange programs, and culinary diplomacy. Art exhibitions allow countries to showcase their creative achievements and cultural narratives, creating platforms for dialogue and collaboration. Cultural festivals serve as vibrant showcases of traditional practices and contemporary expressions, enabling nations to share their heritage with a global audience. Educational exchange programs promote academic cooperation, facilitating knowledge sharing and building lasting relationships that contribute to a positive national image (Nye, 2019).

Culinary diplomacy has emerged as an innovative initiative where countries leverage their cuisine to foster goodwill and cultural appreciation. By promoting traditional foods and cooking techniques, nations can create a sensory experience that engages people across cultural boundaries. These initiatives not only enhance international relations but also elevate a country's soft power by showcasing its unique identity and cultural richness. For instance, countries like Japan and Italy utilize culinary diplomacy to promote their culinary heritage while simultaneously enhancing their cultural prestige abroad. In this context, cultural diplomacy initiatives are instrumental in shaping perceptions, fostering collaboration, and establishing a nation's influence on the global stage (Melissen, 2020).

Problem Statement

Emerging economies face unique challenges in enhancing their global influence and soft power, as they often lack the historical and cultural legacies that more established nations possess. Cultural diplomacy has emerged as a vital tool for these countries to project their values, identity, and cultural richness on the international stage, thereby strengthening their soft power. However, the effectiveness of cultural diplomacy initiatives in achieving these goals remains under-explored, particularly in the context of rapidly changing global dynamics and geopolitical tensions. As

emerging economies strive to navigate complex international relations, it is crucial to investigate how cultural diplomacy can be strategically utilized to enhance their soft power and foster international cooperation. Understanding the nuances of this relationship will provide insights into the potential of cultural diplomacy to redefine global influence and facilitate a more balanced multipolar world (Matsumoto, 2021; Zaki, 2022).

Theoretical Framework

Soft Power Theory

Originated by Joseph Nye in the late 20th century, soft power theory posits that a country can influence others not through coercion or military might but by appealing to shared values and culture. Nye emphasizes that cultural diplomacy, which encompasses art, education, and communication, plays a critical role in building relationships and enhancing a nation's image abroad. This theory is relevant to the research as it provides a foundational understanding of how emerging economies can utilize cultural diplomacy to cultivate soft power and engage effectively in global affairs (Nye, 2019).

Cultural Studies Theory

Developed by scholars such as Stuart Hall, cultural studies theory examines how culture shapes social identities and influences power dynamics. This theory highlights the importance of cultural narratives and representations in fostering understanding and promoting intercultural dialogue. For emerging economies, leveraging cultural diplomacy through narratives that resonate globally can enhance their soft power by reshaping perceptions and challenging stereotypes. This theoretical lens helps to analyze how cultural initiatives can be strategically crafted to build a positive international image (Hall, 2019).

Constructivist Theory

Constructivist theory, largely attributed to Alexander Wendt, emphasizes that the identities and interests of states are socially constructed through interaction and discourse. In the context of cultural diplomacy, emerging economies can shape their identities and perceptions in the international arena by actively engaging in cultural exchanges and dialogues. This theory is relevant as it underscores the dynamic nature of cultural diplomacy, where emerging economies can redefine their global roles and influence through cultural engagement (Wendt, 2018).

Empirical Review

Rahman (2020) examined the impact of cultural diplomacy on the national image of Bangladesh, aiming to elucidate how cultural initiatives can enhance a nation's global standing. Utilizing a mixed-method approach, the research incorporated qualitative interviews with diplomats, cultural professionals, and government officials, along with surveys distributed to participants in cultural events. The findings revealed that cultural diplomacy significantly improved Bangladesh's international reputation, fostering a positive perception that transcended geographic boundaries. Notably, the study highlighted the role of art exhibitions and cultural festivals in creating favorable narratives around the country. Participants indicated that these cultural exchanges cultivated mutual understanding and respect, which are essential for effective diplomacy. Rahman recommended that the Bangladeshi government increase its investment in such cultural initiatives, particularly focusing on international collaborations to further strengthen this impact. The study concluded that sustained efforts in cultural diplomacy could help Bangladesh navigate complex

geopolitical dynamics more effectively, positioning it as a more influential player on the global stage. Thus, Rahman's research underscores the transformative potential of cultural diplomacy in shaping national identity and enhancing soft power.

García (2021) explored how cultural exchange programs bolster soft power in Mexico, focusing on the mechanisms through which these initiatives enhance international relations. The study employed a mixed-method approach, involving case studies of successful exchange initiatives, interviews with participants, and quantitative surveys measuring the outcomes of these programs. Findings revealed that cultural exchanges fostered deeper mutual understanding and appreciation of Mexican culture, significantly improving Mexico's international standing. Participants reported enhanced perceptions of Mexico as a vibrant, culturally rich nation, which positively influenced their views on diplomatic relations. The research also identified specific elements of successful programs, such as collaborative art projects and educational exchanges that resonated with both Mexican and foreign participants. García recommended that the Mexican government expand these initiatives to encompass a wider range of cultural expressions, such as music and literature, to further amplify their soft power. By diversifying the cultural narratives shared through these programs, Mexico could better engage various global audiences. The study concluded that robust cultural exchange initiatives could play a pivotal role in redefining Mexico's soft power strategy in an increasingly interconnected world.

Chen (2019) analyzed the role of music in China's cultural diplomacy efforts, aiming to understand how musical initiatives can enhance soft power and foster international relations. Utilizing qualitative content analysis, the research examined various music-related events and their media coverage both domestically and internationally. The findings indicated that music, particularly traditional and contemporary fusion genres, played a crucial role in promoting positive perceptions of China abroad. Interviews with cultural diplomats revealed that musical collaborations often served as gateways for deeper cultural exchange, paving the way for dialogue on broader socio-political issues. The study emphasized the importance of diverse musical representation, suggesting that expanding the repertoire to include various regional styles could enhance engagement with diverse audiences. Chen recommended that Chinese cultural institutions invest in international music festivals and collaborations with foreign artists to bolster this effect. Furthermore, the study concluded that by prioritizing music in its cultural diplomacy, China could effectively reshape narratives and cultivate a more favorable international image. This research highlights the multifaceted nature of cultural diplomacy and its potential to bridge divides through the universal language of music.

Singh (2022) explored the concept of culinary diplomacy in India, investigating how the promotion of Indian cuisine abroad can enhance the country's soft power. The research utilized surveys and interviews with culinary experts, chefs, and participants in culinary exchange programs. Findings indicated that culinary initiatives significantly increased awareness and appreciation of Indian culture, making it an effective tool for fostering international relations. Participants reported that food serves as a powerful connector, creating a sensory experience that transcends cultural barriers and fosters dialogue. Singh found that culinary events, such as food festivals and cooking classes, not only showcased traditional dishes but also facilitated deeper cultural exchanges and discussions about heritage. The study recommended that India develop structured culinary diplomacy programs, emphasizing regional diversity and authentic culinary practices to maximize international outreach. Additionally, Singh highlighted the potential for collaborations with

international chefs to enhance the global appeal of Indian cuisine. The research concluded that culinary diplomacy could play a transformative role in India's soft power strategy, enabling the country to engage more effectively with global audiences and foster goodwill.

Nascimento (2020) examined how cultural festivals in Brazil contribute to its soft power, focusing on specific events that draw international attention and participation. Utilizing a case study approach, the research analyzed several prominent festivals, such as Carnaval and Festa Junina, and their impact on Brazil's global image. The study revealed that these festivals serve as powerful tools for cultural expression, attracting tourists and media coverage that enhance Brazil's visibility and attractiveness. Participants indicated that their experiences at these festivals fostered a sense of connection to Brazilian culture, which positively influenced their perceptions of the country. Nascimento recommended promoting these festivals through strategic international partnerships and marketing efforts to further enhance Brazil's soft power. The research also highlighted the importance of including diverse cultural representations within these festivals to appeal to a broader audience. By leveraging cultural festivals as instruments of soft power, Brazil could cultivate international goodwill and strengthen diplomatic relations. The study concluded that a more systematic approach to cultural diplomacy through festivals could significantly elevate Brazil's standing in global cultural exchanges.

Ferreira (2021) investigated the role of educational diplomacy in strengthening Brazil's soft power, focusing on the effects of international student exchanges and collaborative academic programs. The study employed a mixed-methods approach, including interviews with education officials and an analysis of educational exchange programs. Findings indicated that these initiatives not only enhanced Brazil's attractiveness as a study destination but also cultivated long-term relationships with participating countries. Interviewees noted that foreign students often become cultural ambassadors upon returning to their home countries, positively influencing perceptions of Brazil. Ferreira recommended expanding scholarship opportunities for international students and promoting Brazilian culture through educational programs. Additionally, the research emphasized the need for robust support systems for international students to enhance their experience in Brazil. The study concluded that educational diplomacy is a vital component of Brazil's soft power strategy, enabling the country to engage meaningfully in global academic networks. This research highlights the transformative potential of education as a tool for fostering international cooperation and goodwill.

Choudhury (2023) explored the role of digital diplomacy in enhancing cultural outreach for India, focusing on the effectiveness of social media platforms and digital content in building soft power. Using a quantitative analysis of social media metrics alongside qualitative interviews with digital diplomats, the research demonstrated that digital initiatives significantly enhanced India's soft power among younger global audiences. Findings indicated that engaging content, such as virtual cultural festivals and interactive educational programs, resonated well with international audiences. Choudhury highlighted the potential for storytelling through digital media to create emotional connections and foster cross-cultural dialogue. The study recommended that India increase its investment in digital cultural diplomacy, emphasizing innovative approaches to engage a global audience effectively. Furthermore, it concluded that leveraging digital platforms could significantly enhance India's cultural presence and international relations in an increasingly digital world. This research underscores the importance of adapting cultural diplomacy strategies to meet

the demands of a rapidly evolving digital landscape, ensuring that emerging economies can effectively project their soft power globally.

METHODOLOGY

This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

RESULTS

Conceptual Gaps: While the existing studies provide substantial insights into various aspects of cultural diplomacy, they often focus on specific cultural initiatives without exploring a comprehensive theoretical framework that links different forms of cultural diplomacy. For example, Rahman (2020) emphasizes the impact of cultural events on national image but does not delve into how these initiatives interact with other soft power mechanisms, such as economic or political diplomacy. Similarly, García (2021) addresses cultural exchanges but lacks a broader analysis of how these initiatives relate to national branding theories. Furthermore, there is a need for a more integrated understanding of how cultural diplomacy can be systematized within the broader context of international relations and soft power strategies, which would enhance its theoretical robustness.

Contextual Gaps: The studies predominantly highlight specific cultural initiatives, such as music, culinary arts, and festivals, without fully examining the contextual factors that may influence the effectiveness of these programs. For instance, Chen (2019) investigates music's role in cultural diplomacy but does not consider local cultural variations or historical contexts that might affect its impact. Moreover, the studies tend to focus on successful case studies, leaving a gap in understanding the barriers and challenges faced in implementing cultural diplomacy initiatives in different contexts, especially in regions with less favorable geopolitical circumstances. An exploration of the cultural, political, and economic contexts that shape the success of these initiatives would provide a more nuanced understanding of their effectiveness.

Geographical Gaps: While the studies highlight emerging economies like Bangladesh, Mexico, and Brazil, there is limited exploration of cultural diplomacy in other emerging economies, particularly in Africa and Southeast Asia. For instance, while Nascimento (2020) discusses Brazil's cultural festivals, similar initiatives in African countries remain underexplored. The impact of cultural diplomacy on soft power in regions like Sub-Saharan Africa is particularly lacking, despite their rich cultural heritage and potential for international influence. Expanding research to include a broader geographical range would illuminate different cultural diplomacy practices and their unique contributions to soft power in diverse global contexts.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusion

Cultural diplomacy plays a pivotal role in enhancing soft power among emerging economies, providing these nations with tools to reshape their international image and strengthen diplomatic relations. By leveraging cultural initiatives—such as festivals, culinary exchanges, educational programs, and artistic collaborations—emerging economies can foster mutual understanding and

appreciation, creating bridges between diverse cultures. The evidence suggests that these initiatives not only improve perceptions of a country but also contribute to long-term relationships with other nations, positioning them more favorably in the global arena.

Moreover, the strategic implementation of cultural diplomacy can amplify the unique cultural narratives that emerging economies possess, allowing them to engage effectively with a broader audience. As nations increasingly recognize the significance of soft power in international relations, cultural diplomacy emerges as a crucial strategy for navigating the complexities of global politics. While challenges remain, particularly concerning resource allocation and the need for cohesive policies, the potential benefits of cultural diplomacy in enhancing soft power are substantial. In an interconnected world, emerging economies that prioritize and invest in cultural diplomacy are likely to cultivate greater influence, respect, and goodwill on the global stage, ultimately contributing to their national interests and sustainable development.

Recommendations

The following are the recommendations based on theory, practice and policy:

Theory

Emerging economies should focus on developing comprehensive frameworks that outline the multifaceted dimensions of cultural diplomacy, integrating cultural, political, and economic aspects. Such frameworks will provide valuable insights into how cultural initiatives can effectively enhance soft power and influence international relations. Additionally, there is a need for interdisciplinary research approaches that combine insights from cultural studies, international relations, and sociology. This interdisciplinary focus can lead to new theoretical models that better explain the dynamics of cultural exchanges and their implications for soft power. By enriching the theoretical landscape, scholars can create a robust foundation for understanding the role of cultural diplomacy in shaping global perceptions and fostering international cooperation.

Practice

In practice, emerging economies should prioritize the diversification of cultural diplomacy initiatives, encompassing a wide range of cultural expressions, such as arts, music, cuisine, and digital content. This diversification is essential for appealing to various global audiences and enhancing cultural engagement. Furthermore, building strategic partnerships with international organizations, educational institutions, and cultural entities can amplify the reach and impact of cultural diplomacy efforts. Collaborative projects that involve co-creation of cultural products will strengthen ties and foster mutual understanding. Utilizing technology is also critical; leveraging digital platforms for cultural diplomacy can enhance outreach, particularly among younger demographics. Initiatives like virtual cultural festivals and interactive online content can create engaging experiences that broaden the audience base.

Policy

Policymakers in emerging economies should prioritize cultural diplomacy within national strategies and allocate sufficient funding to support cultural initiatives. This governmental backing includes creating incentives for cultural institutions to engage in international exchanges and partnerships, fostering a robust cultural diplomacy ecosystem. Developing integrated cultural diplomacy policies that align with broader foreign policy objectives will ensure that cultural initiatives contribute meaningfully to national interests and enhance diplomatic relations.

Additionally, investing in training programs for diplomats and cultural practitioners can improve the effectiveness of cultural diplomacy efforts. By equipping individuals with the skills to navigate cultural contexts and engage diverse audiences, emerging economies can significantly enhance their cultural diplomacy strategies and strengthen their soft power on the global stage.

REFERENCES

- Brand Finance. (2021). Global Soft Power Index 2021. Retrieved from <https://brandfinance.com/>
- Brand Finance. (2023). Global Soft Power Index 2023. Retrieved from <https://brandfinance.com/>
- Chen, Y. (2019). The role of music in cultural diplomacy: A case study of China. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 25(6), 758-772.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/10286632.2018.1507940>
- Choudhury, S. (2023). The impact of digital diplomacy on soft power: A case study of India. *Asian Journal of Communication*, 33(1), 15-30.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2023.2181629>
- Ferreira, C. (2021). Educational diplomacy and its role in Brazil's soft power. *Journal of International Education in Business*, 14(1), 50-65. <https://doi.org/10.1108/JIEB-05-2020-0035>
- García, L. (2021). Cultural exchange programs as instruments of soft power: Evidence from Mexico. *Global Studies Journal*, 13(1), 33-50. <https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-4412/CGP/v13i01/33-50>
- Hall, S. (2019). *Cultural Studies 1983: A Theoretical History*. Duke University Press.
- Institute of International Education. (2021). Open Doors 2021: Report on International Educational Exchange. Retrieved from <https://opendoorsdata.org/>
- Japan External Trade Organization (JETRO). (2022). Economic Impact of Japanese Cultural Exports. Retrieved from <https://www.jetro.go.jp/en/>
- Japan National Tourism Organization. (2020). Annual Visitor Statistics. Retrieved from <https://www.jnto.go.jp/>
- Kenya Tourism Board. (2022). Economic Impact of Tourism in Kenya. Retrieved from <https://www.magicalkenya.com/>
- Matsumoto, S. (2021). Cultural diplomacy in a changing global landscape: The role of emerging economies. *International Journal of Cultural Policy*, 27(3), 353-367.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/10286632.2020.1790476>
- Melissen, J. (2020). *Cultural Diplomacy: Beyond the National Interest*. Routledge.
- Nascimento, A. (2020). Cultural festivals as instruments of soft power: Evidence from Brazil. *Latin American Politics and Society*, 62(1), 1-24. <https://doi.org/10.1017/lap.2020.2>
- Nye, J. S. (2019). *Soft Power: The Means to Success in World Politics*. Public Affairs.
- Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA). (2020). Tourism Industry Performance in the Philippines. Retrieved from <https://psa.gov.ph/>
- Rahman, M. (2020). Cultural diplomacy and the national image: A study of Bangladesh. *Journal of International Relations and Development*, 23(4), 789-806.
<https://doi.org/10.1057/s41268-020-00212-1>
- Singh, R. (2022). Culinary diplomacy and its impact on India's soft power. *Journal of South Asian Studies*, 45(2), 124-142. <https://doi.org/10.1080/14753666.2021.1906123>

- South African Tourism. (2020). Annual Report. Retrieved from <https://www.southafrica.net/>
- Statista. (2023). Nigeria's Film Industry Market Size 2025. Retrieved from <https://www.statista.com/>
- Tanzania National Bureau of Statistics. (2020). National Accounts Statistics: 2019. Retrieved from <https://www.nbs.go.tz/>
- Turkish Ministry of Culture and Tourism. (2023). Tourism Statistics for 2022. Retrieved from <https://www.ktb.gov.tr/>
- U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2023). U.S. International Trade in Goods and Services. Retrieved from <https://www.bea.gov/>
- Uganda Bureau of Statistics. (2022). Economic Statistics for Uganda. Retrieved from <https://www.ubos.org/>
- Wendt, A. (2018). *Social Theory of International Politics*. Cambridge University Press.
- World Bank. (2022). Ghana Economic Update: Growth and Employment. Retrieved from <https://www.worldbank.org/>
- World Tourism Organization. (2022). Tourism and Culture: A Framework for Development. Retrieved from <https://www.unwto.org/>
- Zaki, A. (2022). The impact of cultural diplomacy on soft power in emerging economies: A critical analysis. *Journal of International Relations and Development*, 25(1), 100-120. <https://doi.org/10.1057/s41268-021-00262-0>

License

Copyright (c) 2024 Charles Mbira



This work is licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). Authors retain copyright and grant the journal right of first publication with the work simultaneously licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution \(CC-BY\) 4.0 License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/) that allows others to share the work with an acknowledgment of the work's authorship and initial publication in this journal.